
 
 

City of Baldwin City 
PO Box 86 

Baldwin City, Kansas 66006 
Council Meeting Agenda 

 

Baldwin City Community Center  
712 Chapel St     
Baldwin City, KS 66006 

TUESDAY 
July 15th, 2025  

7:00 PM 

                                     
 

 
A.  Call to Order-Mayor Casey Simoneau 
 
B.  Approval of Agenda 
 
C.  Consent Agenda  

1. Minutes 7.01.2025 
2. Scheduled Claims List  
3. Special Event-Baker University-Move In 
 

D.  Public Comment: 
Members of the public are welcome to comment on items relating to City business not listed on this 
Agenda. Please stand and wait to be recognized by the Mayor. As a general practice, the comments may 
or may not be acted upon by the Council during the meeting, or Council may refer the items to staff for 
follow up. 
 
If you wish to comment on an item listed on the agenda, a sign-up sheet is provided for you to sign in and 
provide your address. You will be called on when the Agenda item of interest is under discussion by the 
Council.  
 
E.  Special Reports or Presentations   

 
F.  Old Business 

1. Brick Street Project 
2. Council Hiring Committee-Discussion  
 

G.  New Business 
1. Electric Rate Ordinance 1513 
2. Pole Banner Discussion 
3. Revenue Neutral-Discussion/set hearing date if exceeding revenue neutral  
 

H.  Council Committee Reports 
1. Budget and Finance - Scott Lauridsen/Cory Venable 



 
 

City of Baldwin City 
PO Box 86 

Baldwin City, Kansas 66006 
Council Meeting Agenda 

 

Baldwin City Community Center  
712 Chapel St     
Baldwin City, KS 66006 

TUESDAY 
July 15th, 2025  

7:00 PM 

                                     
 

2. Community Development - Cory Venable/Susan Pitts 
3. Public Safety - Susan Pitts/Jay King 
4. Public Works and Utilities - Julie Constantinescu/Jay King 
5. Strategic Planning - Scott Lauridsen/Julie Constantinescu 

 
I.  City Administrator and Staff comments 
 
J.  Council and Mayor comments 

 
K. Executive Session 

  
L.  Adjourn 

 
City Council meets every first and third Tuesday of each month at 7:00 p.m. at the Baldwin Community Center.  Council work 
sessions are held the last Tuesday of each month at 7:00 p.m. at the Baldwin Community Center.  



City of Baldwin City 
Minutes  

Tuesday, July 1, 2025 
 Regular Council Meeting 

 
 

A. Call to Order  
The Baldwin City Council was called to Regular Session at 7:00 p.m. at the Baldwin City Community 
Center, 712 Chapel Street, with Mayor Casey Simoneau presiding. 
 
Present were Council Members: Jay King, Susan Pitts, Cory Venable, Scott Lauridsen, and Julie 
Constantinescu.  
  
Also, attending: Russ Harding-Interim City Administrator; Amara Packard-City Clerk; Lynn 
Meador-Communications Director; and Chief Pattrick-Police Department.  

 
B. Approval of Agenda  

Cory Venable moved and Jay King seconded to approve the agenda as presented. Motion carried with 
a vote of 5 yes and 0 no.  

 
C. Consent Agenda  

Julie Constantinescu moved and Susan Pitts seconded to approve the consent agenda as presented.  
Motion carried with a vote of 5 yes and 0 no.    
 
1.  Minutes - 6.17.25 
2.  Scheduled Claims List 
3.  Special Event-BC Fashion Show 

 
D. Public Comment  

 

E. Special Reports or Presentations        
Swearing in of new Police Officer Liam Murphy 
Chief Pattrick introduced Officer Liam Murphy as the newest officer on the police department. 
Liam is a certified law enforcement officer that lives in Baldwin City, and wanted to police in the 
town that he lived in. Officer Murphy was sworn in and welcomed to the Baldwin City Police 
Department.   
 
Proclamation-Girls State Track 
Mayor Simoneau read a proclamation honoring Coach Broxterman, Shea Griffith, Rachel 
Watkins, Cammy Moore and Ireland Kennedy that were 4A state champs in the 4X800m. The 
girls also set the new school record in the 4X800m. 
  



F. Old Business  
 

G. New Business  
1. Brick Street Project 
 After the last meeting, Mayor Simoneau asked Jason from BG Consultants to reach out to the low 

bidder on the project and see if they would be able to put some sort of a design in that intersection.  
The city put a survey on the website to see if citizens were more interested in using old brick or 
new brick for the street project. There were 141 responses with 118 of those responses saying they 
preferred using the old brick.  
Council would like to get some input from the citizens on whether they want a design in the 
intersection, and if so, their preference on the design. There will be a poll online.   
Cory Venable moved to approve the old bricks for the brick street project at the intersection of 8th 
and High Street, the bid in the amount of $159,000.00. Cory rescinds his motion.           
Cory Venable moved and Susan Pitts seconded to approve the bid for $158,796.00 to Heartstone 
Inc. for the brick street project at 8th and High Street, and waving the engineering estimate with the 
option to add the additional cost for the design.  

 
2. Ordinance 1512-Rezone 101 8th St. 

This rezone went before the planning commission on June 10th. Currently the property is zoned 
commercial and the owners would like to have it rezoned to residential. The house has been a 
residential dwelling for over 120 years.    
Scott Lauridsen moved and Jay King seconded to approve ordinance 1512 as presented. Motion 
passes 5-0. 
Roll call vote: Julie Constantinescu-yes, Scott Lauridsen-yes, Cory Venable-yes, Susan Pitts-yes, 
and Jay King-yes.  
  

3. KMEA Appointment 
The City needs an appointment to represent the city on the KMEA Board. Mayor Simoneau 
recommended Russ Harding to take that position.  
Cory Venable moved and Susan Pitts seconded to appoint Russ Harding to the KMEA Board of 
Directors. Motion passes 5-0. 
   

4. KMGA Appointment 
The City needs an appointment to represent the city on the KMGA Board. Mayor Simoneau 
recommended Russ Harding to take that position.  
Julie Constantinescu moved and Cory Venable seconded to appoint Russ Harding to the KMGA 
Board of Directors. Motion passes 5-0.  
 

5. Treasurer Appointment 
Mayor Simoneau recommended Russ Harding to the treasurer position.  
Susan Pitts moved and Scott Lauridsen seconded to appoint Russ Harding as the treasurer for the 
City of Baldwin City. Motion passes 5-0.  



 
6. Council Hiring Committee 

The city administrator position is appointed and removed by the city council so Mayor Simoneau 
would like to appoint two council members to work with city staff to start the process of posting 
the job and moving forward in the hiring process of a new city administrator. The two council 
members to be appointed to start this process are Scott Lauridsen and Julie Constantinescu.   
Jay King moved and Cory Venable seconded to appoint Scott Lauridsen and Julie Constantinescu 
to the hiring committee for the new city administrator. Motion passes 5-0. 
 
 

H. Committee Reports 
1. Budget and Finance - Scott Lauridsen/Cory Venable     

● Budget Workshop  
● Electric rate options 

Next meeting 7/11/2025 at 7:30am, second floor of City Hall 
  

2. Community Development - Cory Venable/Susan Pitts    
● Pole Banners 
● Food Truck Ordinance 

Next meeting will be 7/21/2025 at 4:00pm, second floor of City Hall 
 

3. Public Safety - Susan Pitts/Jay King   
Next meeting will be 7/08/2025 at 4:00pm, second floor of City Hall 
 

4. Public Works and Utilities - Julie Constantinescu/Jay King                                                                                     
Next meeting will be 7/10/2025 at 9:00am, second floor of City Hall   

     
5. Strategic Planning-Scott Lauridsen/Julie Constantinescu    

Next meeting TBD at 2:00pm, second floor of City Hall 
 

I. City Administrator and Staff Comments  
   

J. Council & Mayor Comments       
 

K. Executive Session    
   

L. Adjourn 
Julie Constantinescu moved and Cory Venable seconded to adjourn the regular meeting. Motion 
passes 5-0. Time: 8:01 p.m. 

Attest: 
 
_________________________________         



Amara M. Packard  
City Clerk 









































Published in The Maple and at baldwincity.gov on the _____ day of ________, 2025 
 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 1513 

 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING THE CURRENT ELECTRIC ENERGY 

RATES; ESTABLISHING NEW ELECTRIC ENERGY RATES FOR 

CUSTOMERS OF BALDWIN CITY'S MUNICIPAL ELECTRIC UTILITY; 

RENUMBERING SPECIFIC SECTIONS OF THE CITY CODE; 

ESTABLISHING A POWER COST ADJUSTMENT; REPEALING 

ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Baldwin City, Kansas, owns an electric utility system 

established to provide electric utility service to customers inside and outside the city 

limits; and 

 

WHEREAS, Chapter XV, Article 2, of the Code of the City of Baldwin City, 

Kansas, provides for the provision and billing of electric service by the municipal 

electric utility; and 

 

WHEREAS, the policies, fees and rates for installing and providing municipal 

electric utility services require updating from time to time to appropriately reflect the 

cost of providing such services; and 

 

WHEREAS, revisions to the existing fees and rates for electric service are now 

necessary to reflect the current costs of providing service; and 

 

WHEREAS, to be aligned with current best practices, the rates for electric service 

should include an automatic adjustment clause that will adjust electric service rates for 

changes in the cost to the municipal electric utility to purchase wholesale electric 

energy and fuel for electric generation. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Governing Body of the City of 

Baldwin City, Kansas, as follows: 

 

Section 1. Repeal the existing sections 15-209 through 15-218 of Chapter XV, 

Article 2 of the Code of the City of Baldwin City, Kansas, and replace those sections 

with the following new sections: 

 

Section 15-209. RESIDENTIAL RATES. The rates for electric service to residential 



customers of the municipal electric utility are: 

 

a) A monthly customer charge of $12.00 per meter for customers inside the city 

limits and $20.00 per meter for customers outside the city limits, plus, 

b) Effective July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1610 per 

kilowatt hour of metered energy use for all residential class customers, then 

c) Effective October 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1771 per 

kilowatt hour of metered energy use for all residential class customers, then 

d) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all 

kilowatt-hours of metered energy use. 

 

Section 15-210.  BUSINESS RATES. The rates for electric service to business customers 

of the municipal electric utility, including offices, retail establishments and 

manufacturing enterprises, annual use is under 90,000 kilowatt-hours are: 

 

a) A monthly customer charge of $22.50 per meter for customers inside the 

city limits and $40.00 per meter for customers outside the city limits, plus 

b) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1610 per 

kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for all business-class customers, then 

c) Effective October 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1771 per 

kilowatt hour of metered energy use for all residential class customers, then 

d) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all 

kilowatt-hours of metered energy use. 

 

Section 15-211. COMMERCIAL RATES. The rates for electric service to commercial 

customers of the municipal electric utility whose annual use is over 90,000 kilowatt-hours 

are: 

 

a) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly demand charge of $13.95 

per kilowatt of billing demand, where the billing demand is the highest 

demand metered for the current month, plus 

b) Effective with October 1, 2025 usage, a monthly demand charge of 

$15.35 per kilowatt of billing demand, where the billing demand is the 

highest demand metered for the current month, then 

c) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1326 

per kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for all commercial-class 

customers, then 

d) Effective with October 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of 

$0.1459 per kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for all commercial-class 

customers, then 



e) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all 

kilowatt-hours of metered energy use. 

 

Section 15-212. HEAVY COMMERCIAL RATES. The rates for electric service to 

commercial customers of the municipal electric utility whose annual use is over 360,000 

kilowatt-hours are: 

 

a) A monthly customer charge of zero ($00.00) dollars per meter, plus 

b) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly demand charge of 

$13.95 per kilowatt of billing demand, where the billing demand is 

the highest demand metered for the current month, plus 

c) Effective with October 1, 2025 usage, a monthly demand charge of 

$15.35 per kilowatt of billing demand, where the billing demand is 

the highest demand metered for the current month, then 

d) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of 

$0.1291 per kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for all heavy 

commercial-class customers, then 

e) Effective with October 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of 

$0.1421 per kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for all 

commercial-class customers, then 

f) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided m section 15-231, applied to 

all kilowatt-hours of metered energy use. 

 

Section 15-213. INDUSTRIAL RATES. The rates for electric service to commercial customers 

of the municipal electric utility whose annual use is over 1,020,000 kilowatt hours are: 

 

a) A monthly customer charge of $00.00 per meter, plus 

b) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly demand charge of $12.55 per kilowatt 

of billing demand, where the billing demand is the highest demand metered for the 

current month, plus 

c) Effective with October 1, 2025 usage, a monthly demand charge of $13.81 

per kilowatt of billing demand, where the billing demand is the highest 

demand metered for the current month, then 

d) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1047 per kilowatt-

hour of metered energy use for all industrial class customers, then 

e) Effective with October 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1152 per 

kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for all industrial class customers, then 

f) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all kilowatt-

hours of metered energy use. 

 



Section 15-214. PUBLIC SCHOOLS RATES. The rates for electric service to facilities owned 

and operated by the Baldwin Unified School District No. 348 are: 

 

a) A monthly customer charge of $0.00 per meter, plus 

b) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly demand charge of $13.95 per kilowatt 

of billing demand, where the billing demand is the highest demand metered for the 

current month, then 

c) Effective with October 1, 2025 usage, a monthly demand charge of $15.35 per 

kilowatt of billing demand, where the billing demand is the highest demand 

metered for the current month, then 

d) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1187 per 

kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for public school-class customers, then 

e) Effective with October 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1306 per 

kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for public school-class customers, then 

f) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all kilowatt-

hours of metered energy use. 

 

Section 15-215. CLUB HOUSE, SORORITY AND FRATERNITY RATES. The rates for 

electric service to university-approved student housing, including club houses, sororities, 

fraternities and on campus residential areas are: 

 

a) A monthly customer charge of $25.00 per meter for customers inside the city limits 

and $50.00 per meter for customers outside the city limits, plus 

b)  Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1696 per kilowatt-

hour of metered energy use for club/sorority/fraternity-class customers, then 

c) Effective with October 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1866 per 

kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for club/sorority/fraternity-class customers, 

then 

d) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all kilowatt-

hours of metered energy use. 

 

 

Section 15-216. UNIVERSITY RATES. The rates for electric service to any or all facilities 

owned and operated by a university for university purposes are: 

 

a) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly demand charge of $16.74 per 

kilowatt of billing demand, where the billing demand is the greater of the highest 

demand metered for the current month or 80 percent of the highest demand 

metered over the preceding eleven months, plus 

b) Effective with October 1, 2025 usage, a monthly demand charge of $18.41 per 



kilowatt of billing demand, where the billing demand is the greater of the highest 

demand metered for the current month or 80 percent of the highest demand 

metered over the preceding eleven months, then 

c) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1022 per 

kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for university-class customers, then 

d) Effective with October 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1125 per 

kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for university-class customers, then 

e) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all kilowatt-

hours of metered energy use. 

f) Baker University may enlist service with regular meters as needs arise. Any non-

demand services operated by Baker University shall be billed according to the rate 

schedule in Section 15-210. 

 

Section 15-217. CITY RATES. The rates for electric service to facilities used by the City of 

Baldwin for city purposes are: 

 

a) A monthly customer charge of $22.50 per meter, plus 

b) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1610 per 

kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for city-class customers, then 

c) Effective with October 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1771 per 

kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for city-class customers, then 

d) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all kilowatt-

hours of metered energy use. 

 

Section 15-218.  CHURCH RATES. This section is applicable to any church, synagogue, or other 

public place that is used for the purpose of conducting group religious worship services. The rates 

for electric service to church customers of the municipal electric utility are: 

 

a) A monthly customer charge of $20.00 per meter for customers inside the city 

limits, plus 

b) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1610 per 

kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for church-class customers, then 

c) Effective with October 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1771 per 

kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for city-class customers, then 

d) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all kilowatt-

hours of metered energy use. 

 

Section 15-231. POWER COST ADJUSTMENT. A power cost adjustment will be added each 

month to the energy charge per kWh for all customers of the municipal electric utility. The power cost 



adjustment ("PCA") is to be computed each month using the actual delivered cost of energy for the 

most recent three-month period divided by the actual number of kilowatt-hours used for the same 

three-month period, subtracting the base power cost and multiplying the result by the compensation 

factor for distribution system losses and energy furnished free by the municipal electric utility to the 

City of Baldwin City. 

PCA = [(Power Cost / kWh Used) – Base Power Cost] x Compensation Factor 

 

For purposes of this formula, the following applies: 

PCA = Power Cost Adjustment stated as a cost per kWh, rounded to the nearest $0.0001. The 

PCA could result in an incremental charge or a credit for the month 

Power Cost = the most recent three-month actual cost of purchased power and fuel for power 

plant generation. 

kWh Used = the most recent three-month actual kilowatt hours used. 

Base Power Cost = budgeted annual power cost divided by the budgeted annual kWh. 

Compensation Factor = 1.1111 and is a multiplier used to compensate the utility for accounted 

losses of energy given away at no charge such as street lighting, line losses both Internal 

(distribution) and External (transmission), and theft. 

 

Section 2. All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this ordinance 

are hereby repealed to the extent necessary to resolve such conflict. 

 

Section 3. If any part of this ordinance is declared invalid for any reason, such invalidity shall 

not affect the remaining valid portions of this ordinance. To this end, this ordinance is declared 

severable: 

 

Section 4. This ordinance shall be effective upon adoption by the governing body, approval 

by the Mayor, and publication as required by law. The rates included herein shall be applied 

to energy usage on the appropriate dates as noted in the specific sections. 

 

Section 5.  On January 1 of every year, all electric rate categories will be adjusted according 

to the annual Municipal Cost Index (MCI). 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED by the governing body of the City of Baldwin City, 

Kansas, on this 15th day of July, 2025. 

 

 

 

 

APPROVED: 



 

___________________________ 

Casey Simoneau, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

____________________ 

Amara Packard, City Clerk 

 



Published in The Maple and at baldwincity.gov on the _____ day of ________, 2025 
 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 1513 

 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING THE CURRENT ELECTRIC ENERGY 

RATES; ESTABLISHING NEW ELECTRIC ENERGY RATES FOR 

CUSTOMERS OF BALDWIN CITY'S MUNICIPAL ELECTRIC 

UTILITY; RENUMBERING SPECIFIC SECTIONS OF THE CITY CODE; 

ESTABLISHING A POWER COST ADJUSTMENT; REPEALING 

ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 

DATE 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Baldwin City, Kansas, owns an electric utility system 

established to provide electric utility service to customers inside and outside the 

city limits; and 

 

WHEREAS, Chapter XV, Article 2, of the Code of the City of Baldwin City, 

Kansas, provides for the provision and billing of electric service by the municipal 

electric utility; and 

 

WHEREAS, the policies, fees and rates for installing and providing municipal 

electric utility services require updating from time to time to appropriately reflect 

the cost of providing such services; and 

 

WHEREAS, revisions to the existing fees and rates for electric service are now 

necessary to reflect the current costs of providing service; and 

 

WHEREAS, to be aligned with current best practices, the rates for electric 

service should include an automatic adjustment clause that will adjust electric 

service rates for changes in the cost to the municipal electric utility to purchase 

wholesale electric energy and fuel for electric generation. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Governing Body of the City 

of Baldwin City, Kansas, as follows: 

 

Section 1. Repeal the existing sections 15-209 through 15-218 of Chapter XV, 

Article 2 of the Code of the City of Baldwin City, Kansas, and replace those 



sections with the following new sections: 

 

Section 15-209. RESIDENTIAL RATES. The rates for electric service to residential 

customers of the municipal electric utility are: 

 

a) A monthly customer charge of $12.00 per meter for customers inside the 

city limits and $20.00 per meter for customers outside the city limits, 

plus, 

b) Effective July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1750 per 

kilowatt hour of metered energy use for all residential class customers, 

the 

c) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all 

kilowatt-hours   of metered energy use. 

 

Section 15-210.  BUSINESS RATES. The rates for electric service to business customers of 

the municipal electric utility, including offices, retail establishments and manufacturing 

enterprises, annual use is under 90,000 kilowatt-hours are: 

 

a) A monthly customer charge of $22.50 per meter for customers inside the 

city limits and $40.00 per meter for customers outside the city limits, plus 

b) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1750 per 

kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for all business-class customers, then 

c) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all 

kilowatt-hours of metered energy use. 

 

Section 15-211. COMMERCIAL RATES. The rates for electric service to commercial 

customers of the municipal electric utility whose annual use is over 90,000 kilowatt-hours are: 

 

a) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly demand charge of $15.17 

per kilowatt of billing demand, where the billing demand is the highest 

demand metered for the current month, plus 

b) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1442 

per kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for all commercial-class 

customers, then 

c) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all 

kilowatt-hours of metered energy use. 

 

Section 15-212. HEAVY COMMERCIAL RATES. The rates for electric service to 

commercial customers of the municipal electric utility whose annual use is over 360,000 

kilowatt-hours are: 



 

a) A monthly customer charge of zero ($00.00) dollars per meter, plus 

b) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly demand charge of $15.17 

per kilowatt of billing demand, where the billing demand is the highest 

demand metered for the current month, plus 

c) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1403 per 

kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for all heavy commercial-class 

customers, then 

d) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided m section 15-231, applied to all 

kilowatt-hours of metered energy use. 

 

Section 15-213. INDUSTRIAL RATES. The rates for electric service to commercial customers of the 

municipal electric utility whose annual use is over 1,020,000 kilowatt hours are: 

 

a) A monthly customer charge of $00.00 per meter, plus 

b) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly demand charge of $13.64 per kilowatt 

of billing demand, where the billing demand is the highest demand metered for the 

current month, plus 

c) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1138 per kilowatt-

hour of metered energy use for all industrial class customers, plus 

d) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all kilowatt-

hours of metered energy use. 

 

Section 15-214. PUBLIC SCHOOLS RATES. The rates for electric service to facilities owned 

and operated by the Baldwin Unified School District No. 348 are: 

 

a) A monthly customer charge of $0.00 per meter, plus 

b) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly demand charge of $15.17 per kilowatt 

of billing demand, where the billing demand is the highest demand metered for the 

current month, plus 

c) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1290 per 

kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for public school-class customers, then 

d) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all kilowatt-

hours of metered energy use. 

 

Section 15-215. CLUB HOUSE, SORORITY AND FRATERNITY RATES. The rates for 

electric service to university-approved student housing, including club houses, sororities, 

fraternities and on campus residential areas are: 

 

a) A monthly customer charge of $25.00 per meter for customers inside the city limits 



and $50.00 per meter for customers outside the city limits, plus 

b)  Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1843 per kilowatt-

hour of metered energy use for club/sorority/fraternity-class customers, then 

c) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all kilowatt-

hours of metered energy use. 

 

 

Section 15-216. UNIVERSITY RATES. The rates for electric service to any or all facilities 

owned and operated by a university for university purposes are: 

 

a) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly demand charge of $18.19 per 

kilowatt of billing demand, where the billing demand is the greater of the highest 

demand metered for the current month or 80 percent of the highest demand 

metered over the preceding eleven months, plus 

b) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1110 per 

kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for university-class customers, then 

c) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all kilowatt-

hours of metered energy use. 

d) Baker University may enlist service with regular meters as needs arise. Any non-

demand services operated by Baker University shall be billed according to the rate 

schedule in Section 15-210. 

 

Section 15-217. CITY RATES. The rates for electric service to facilities used by the City of 

Baldwin for city purposes are: 

 

a) A monthly customer charge of $22.50 per meter, plus 

b) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1750 per 

kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for city-class customers, then 

c) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all 

kilowatt-hours of metered energy use. 

 

Section 15-218.  CHURCH RATES. This section is applicable to any church, synagogue, or other 

public place that is used for the purpose of conducting group religious worship services. The rates 

for electric service to church customers of the municipal electric utility are: 

 

a) A monthly customer charge of $20.00 per meter for customers inside the city 

limits, plus 

b) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1750 per 

kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for church-class customers, then 

c) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all 



kilowatt-hours of metered energy use. 

 

Section 15-231. POWER COST ADJUSTMENT. A power cost adjustment will be added each 

month to the energy charge per kWh for all customers of the municipal electric utility. The power cost 

adjustment ("PCA") is to be computed each month using the actual delivered cost of energy for the 

most recent three-month period divided by the actual number of kilowatt-hours used for the same 

three-month period, subtracting the base power cost and multiplying the result by the compensation 

factor for distribution system losses and energy furnished free by the municipal electric utility to the 

City of Baldwin City. 

PCA = [(Power Cost / kWh Used) – Base Power Cost] x Compensation Factor 

 

For purposes of this formula, the following applies: 

PCA = Power Cost Adjustment stated as a cost per kWh, rounded to the nearest $0.0001. The 

PCA could result in an incremental charge or a credit for the month 

Power Cost = the most recent three-month actual cost of purchased power and fuel for power 

plant generation. 

kWh Used = the most recent three-month actual kilowatt hours used. 

Base Power Cost = budgeted annual power cost divided by the budgeted annual kWh. 

Compensation Factor = 1.1111 and is a multiplier used to compensate the utility for accounted 

losses of energy given away at no charge such as street lighting, line losses both Internal 

(distribution) and External (transmission), and theft. 

 

Section 2. All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this ordinance are 

hereby repealed to the extent necessary to resolve such conflict. 

 

Section 3. If any part of this ordinance is declared invalid for any reason, such invalidity shall not affect 

the remaining valid portions of this ordinance. To this end, this ordinance is declared severable: 

 

Section 4. This ordinance shall be effective upon adoption by the governing body, approval by the 

Mayor, and publication as required by law. The rates included herein shall be applied to energy usage 

on the appropriate dates as noted in the specific sections. 

 

Section 5.  On January 1 of every year, all electric rate categories will be adjusted according to the 

annual Municipal Cost Index (MCI). 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED by the governing body of the City of Baldwin City, 

Kansas, on this 15th day of July, 2025. 

 



 

 

APPROVED: 

 

___________________________ 

Casey Simoneau, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

____________________ 

Amara Packard, City Clerk 

 



Published in The Maple and at baldwincity.gov on the _____ day of ________, 2025 
 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 1513 

 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING THE CURRENT ELECTRIC ENERGY 

RATES; ESTABLISHING NEW ELECTRIC ENERGY RATES FOR 

CUSTOMERS OF BALDWIN CITY'S MUNICIPAL ELECTRIC 

UTILITY; RENUMBERING SPECIFIC SECTIONS OF THE CITY CODE; 

ESTABLISHING A POWER COST ADJUSTMENT; REPEALING 

ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 

DATE 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Baldwin City, Kansas, owns an electric utility system 

established to provide electric utility service to customers inside and outside the 

city limits; and 

 

WHEREAS, Chapter XV, Article 2, of the Code of the City of Baldwin City, 

Kansas, provides for the provision and billing of electric service by the municipal 

electric utility; and 

 

WHEREAS, the policies, fees and rates for installing and providing municipal 

electric utility services require updating from time to time to appropriately reflect 

the cost of providing such services; and 

 

WHEREAS, revisions to the existing fees and rates for electric service are now 

necessary to reflect the current costs of providing service; and 

 

WHEREAS, to be aligned with current best practices, the rates for electric 

service should include an automatic adjustment clause that will adjust electric 

service rates for changes in the cost to the municipal electric utility to purchase 

wholesale electric energy and fuel for electric generation. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Governing Body of the City 

of Baldwin City, Kansas, as follows: 

 

Section 1. Repeal the existing sections 15-209 through 15-218 of Chapter XV, 

Article 2 of the Code of the City of Baldwin City, Kansas, and replace those 



sections with the following new sections: 

 

Section 15-209. RESIDENTIAL RATES. The rates for electric service to residential 

customers of the municipal electric utility are: 

 

a) A monthly customer charge of $25.00 per meter for customers inside the 

city limits and $25.00 per meter for customers outside the city limits, 

plus, 

b) Effective July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1540 per 

kilowatt hour of metered energy use for all residential class customers, 

the 

c) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all 

kilowatt-hours of metered energy use. 

 

Section 15-210.  BUSINESS RATES. The rates for electric service to business customers of 

the municipal electric utility, including offices, retail establishments and manufacturing 

enterprises, annual use is under 90,000 kilowatt-hours are: 

 

a) A monthly customer charge of $25.00 per meter for customers inside 

the city limits and $25.00 per meter for customers outside the city 

limits, plus 

b) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1540 

per kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for all business-class 

customers, then 

c) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all 

kilowatt-hours of metered energy use. 

 

Section 15-211. COMMERCIAL RATES. The rates for electric service to commercial 

customers of the municipal electric utility whose annual use is over 90,000 kilowatt-hours are: 

 

a) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly demand charge of 

$13.95 per kilowatt of billing demand, where the billing demand is 

the highest demand metered for the current month, plus 

b) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of 

$0.1326 per kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for all commercial-

class customers, then 

c) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to 

all kilowatt-hours of metered energy use. 

 

Section 15-212. HEAVY COMMERCIAL RATES. The rates for electric service to 



commercial customers of the municipal electric utility whose annual use is over 360,000 

kilowatt-hours are: 

 

a) A monthly customer charge of zero ($00.00) dollars per meter, plus 

b) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly demand charge of 

$13.95 per kilowatt of billing demand, where the billing demand is 

the highest demand metered for the current month, plus 

c) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of 

$0.1291 per kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for all heavy 

commercial-class customers, then 

d) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided m section 15-231, applied to 

all kilowatt-hours of metered energy use. 

 

Section 15-213. INDUSTRIAL RATES. The rates for electric service to commercial customers of the 

municipal electric utility whose annual use is over 1,020,000 kilowatt hours are: 

 

a) A monthly customer charge of $00.00 per meter, plus 

b) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly demand charge of $12.55 per 

kilowatt of billing demand, where the billing demand is the highest demand 

metered for the current month, plus 

c) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1047 per 

kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for all industrial class customers, plus 

d) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all kilowatt-

hours of metered energy use. 

 

Section 15-214. PUBLIC SCHOOLS RATES. The rates for electric service to facilities owned 

and operated by the Baldwin Unified School District No. 348 are: 

 

a) A monthly customer charge of $0.00 per meter, plus 

b) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly demand charge of $13.95 per 

kilowatt of billing demand, where the billing demand is the highest demand 

metered for the current month, plus 

c) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1187 per 

kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for public school-class customers, then 

d) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all 

kilowatt-hours of metered energy use. 

 

Section 15-215. CLUB HOUSE, SORORITY AND FRATERNITY RATES. The rates for 

electric service to university-approved student housing, including club houses, sororities, 

fraternities and on campus residential areas are: 



 

a) A monthly customer charge of $25.00 per meter for customers inside the city 

limits and $25.00 per meter for customers outside the city limits, plus 

b)  Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1622 

per kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for club/sorority/fraternity-class 

customers, then 

c) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all kilowatt-

hours of metered energy use. 

 

 

Section 15-216. UNIVERSITY RATES. The rates for electric service to any or all facilities 

owned and operated by a university for university purposes are: 

 

a) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly demand charge of $16.74 per 

kilowatt of billing demand, where the billing demand is the greater of the 

highest demand metered for the current month or 80 percent of the highest 

demand metered over the preceding eleven months, plus 

b) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1022 per 

kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for university-class customers, then 

c) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all 

kilowatt-hours of metered energy use. 

d) Baker University may enlist service with regular meters as needs arise. Any 

non-demand services operated by Baker University shall be billed according 

to the rate schedule in Section 15-210. 

 

Section 15-217. CITY RATES. The rates for electric service to facilities used by the City of 

Baldwin for city purposes are: 

 

a) A monthly customer charge of $25.00 per meter, plus 

b) Effective with July 1, 2025 usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1540 per 

kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for city-class customers, then 

c) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all 

kilowatt-hours of metered energy use. 

 

Section 15-218.  CHURCH RATES. This section is applicable to any church, synagogue, or other 

public place that is used for the purpose of conducting group religious worship services. The rates 

for electric service to church customers of the municipal electric utility are: 

 

a) A monthly customer charge of $25.00 per meter for customers inside the 

city limits, plus 



b) Effective with July 1, 2025usage, a monthly energy charge of $0.1540 per 

kilowatt-hour of metered energy use for church-class customers, then 

c) A Power Cost Adjustment, as provided in section 15-231, applied to all 

kilowatt-hours of metered energy use. 

 

Section 15-231. POWER COST ADJUSTMENT. A power cost adjustment will be added each 

month to the energy charge per kWh for all customers of the municipal electric utility. The power cost 

adjustment ("PCA") is to be computed each month using the actual delivered cost of energy for the 

most recent three-month period divided by the actual number of kilowatt-hours used for the same 

three-month period, subtracting the base power cost and multiplying the result by the compensation 

factor for distribution system losses and energy furnished free by the municipal electric utility to the 

City of Baldwin City. 

PCA = [(Power Cost / kWh Used) – Base Power Cost] x Compensation Factor 

 

For purposes of this formula, the following applies: 

PCA = Power Cost Adjustment stated as a cost per kWh, rounded to the nearest $0.0001. The 

PCA could result in an incremental charge or a credit for the month 

Power Cost = the most recent three-month actual cost of purchased power and fuel for power 

plant generation. 

kWh Used = the most recent three-month actual kilowatt hours used. 

Base Power Cost = budgeted annual power cost divided by the budgeted annual kWh. 

Compensation Factor = 1.1111 and is a multiplier used to compensate the utility for accounted 

losses of energy given away at no charge such as street lighting, line losses both Internal 

(distribution) and External (transmission), and theft. 

 

Section 2. All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this ordinance 

are hereby repealed to the extent necessary to resolve such conflict. 

 

Section 3. If any part of this ordinance is declared invalid for any reason, such invalidity shall 

not affect the remaining valid portions of this ordinance. To this end, this ordinance is declared 

severable: 

 

Section 4. This ordinance shall be effective upon adoption by the governing body, approval 

by the Mayor, and publication as required by law. The rates included herein shall be applied 

to energy usage on the appropriate dates as noted in the specific sections. 

 

Section 5.  On January 1 of every year, all electric rate categories will be adjusted according 

to the annual Municipal Cost Index (MCI). 



 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED by the governing body of the City of Baldwin City, 

Kansas, on this 15th day of July, 2025. 

 

 

 

APPROVED: 

 

___________________________ 

Casey Simoneau, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

____________________ 

Amara Packard, City Clerk 

 



Request for Proposal (RFP) for Artist to 

Design Pole Banner Graphics with 

Community Input 

Issued By: Baldwin City Chamber of Commerce 

Date Issued: March 19, 2025 

Proposal Due Date: April 11, 2025 

Overview 

Baldwin City Chamber of Commerce is seeking proposals from artists or designers to create 

unique pole banner designs that reflect the identity, culture, and values of our community. 

These banners will be displayed on poles throughout the downtown area. The selected artist(s) 

will incorporate input from community members into the final designs. A stipend will be provided 

for the selected artist(s). 

Project Scope 

● Design Creation: Develop nine (9) distinct pole banner graphics that showcase 

elements of Baldwin City's heritage, landmarks, and natural beauty. Artists may submit 

proposals for three (3), six (6), or nine (9) designs, based on the subsections below. 

○ These designs are split into the following subsections:  

■ USD 348, Baker, and History 

■ Art, Events/Play, and Nature 

■ Service, Veterans, Maple Leaf Festival 

● Community Engagement: Incorporate community feedback gathered during the public 

input phase (December 9, 2024 – February 17, 2025) into the design process. The artist 

selected will work with a volunteer committee to finalize designs. 

● Theme Integration: Align designs with themes identified by the Main Street Design 

Committee, reflecting the essence of Baldwin City. See themes listed under Design 

Creation above. More details are available on the design process and theme selection, 

upon request. 

● Final Deliverables:  Working with the producer chosen by the Design Committee, 

provide print-ready digital files formatted for banner production. Assistance will be 

provided to transfer any non-digital designs to printable format. 

● Timeline Adherence: Ensure designs are completed in alignment with the project 

schedule, aiming for installation by mid-summer 2025. 

Banner Specifications 

● Material: vinyl 



● Size: 2 feet by 5 feet 

● Design Requirements: High-resolution, scalable digital format suitable for large-format 

printing. Assistance will be provided to transfer designs to printable format. 

Eligibility Criteria 

● Open to artists, graphic designers, and illustrators with experience in public art or 

community-based projects. 

● Experience in working with community input is preferred. 

● Must be able to complete the project within the specified timeline. 

Budget & Compensation 

There is an artist stipend of up to $1,500, which will be split into three (3) increments of $500 

per set of three (3) designs. This is to cover artist fees, concept development, and community 

engagement sessions. Artists may submit proposals for three (3), six (6), or nine (9) designs, 

based on the subsections. 

Submission Requirements 

Interested artists should submit the following: 

1. Letter of Interest detailing their experience, approach to community engagement, and 

artistic vision. A brief overview of any familiarity with the Baldwin City Community Mural 

Team and/or Baldwin City Main Street Design Team is also desirable. 

2. Portfolio showcasing relevant work samples. 

3. Design/Theme preference, including how many total designs they are interested in 

creating. MUST be in increments of three (3), based on the subsections laid out. Please 

contact us with questions (see contact information below). 

4. Proposed Timeline for concept development and final design completion. 

Selection Process & Timeline 

● Proposal Deadline: April 11, 2025 

● Review & Selection: The week of April 14th 

● Design Development: May 1 – June 15, 2025 

● Final Design Submission: June 15, 2025 

● Banner Installation: summer 2025 

Evaluation Criteria 

● Artistic quality and originality 

● Experience with public art and community engagement 

● Feasibility of the proposed timeline 

● Demonstrated ability to deliver high-quality digital artwork for printing 



Submission Instructions 

Please submit proposals via email to Jeannette Blackmar at director@lumberyardartscenter 

with the subject line "Pole Banner RFP Submission." For questions or additional information, 

contact Jeannette at the email above or  Lynn Meador at lmeador@baldwincity.gov.  

Baldwin City Chamber of Commerce reserves the right to reject any and all proposals received 

as a result of this RFP. Baldwin City Chamber of Commerce is under no obligation to award a 

contract as a result of this RFP.  

 



Baldwin
City



Baldwin
City



Baldwin
City



Baldwin
City



Baldwin
City



Baldwin
City









NOTE: Notice required to be sent to County Clerk on or before 5 p.m. on July 20, otherwise Revenue 
Neutral Rate cannot be exceeded. Signed notice may be scanned and sent electronically. 

Notice of Revenue Neutral Rate Intent 

THE GOVERNING BODY OF ________________________, HEREBY NOTIFIES THE 
___________ COUNTY CLERK OF INTENT TO EXCEED THE REVENUE NEUTRAL RATE; 

_____  Yes, we intend to exceed the Revenue Neutral Rate and our proposed mill levy rate is 

_________.  The date of our hearing is ___________ at _____ AM/PM and will be 

held at ________________ in _____________, Kansas. 

_____  No, we do not plan to exceed the Revenue Neutral Rate and will submit our budget to 

the County Clerk on or before August 25, 20___. 

WITNESS my hand and official seal on ____________, 20___. 

(Seal) 

Clerk or Officer of Governing Body 


	B. 7.15.2025 Agenda (3).docx.pdf
	A.  Call to Order-Mayor Casey Simoneau 
	B.  Approval of Agenda 
	D.  Public Comment: 
	 
	E.  Special Reports or Presentations  
	F.  Old Business 
	G.  New Business 
	L.  Adjourn 
	 

	C.1. Minutes 7.01.2025 (1).docx.pdf
	C.2. Scheduled Claims List.pdf
	C.3. Special Event Application-Baker Univ Move In.pdf
	G.1.a. Option (1) Electric Rate Ordinance 2025 (July 15_ and Oct 10_.pdf
	G.1.b. Option (2) Electric Rate Ordinance 2025.pdf
	G.1.c. Option (3) Electric Rate Ordinance 2025.pdf
	G.2. Pole Banner Designs.pdf
	Request for Proposal (RFP) for Artist to Design Pole Banner Graphics with Community Input.FINAL.pdf
	Overview
	Project Scope
	Banner Specifications
	Eligibility Criteria
	Budget & Compensation
	Submission Requirements
	Selection Process & Timeline
	Evaluation Criteria
	Submission Instructions


	G.3. Notice to County Clerk.pdf

	Taxing Subdivision Name: Baldwin City, Kansas
	Home County: Dougla
	Proposed Mill Rate: 43.390
	Hearing Date: September 2
	Hearing Time: 7pm
	Hearing Location: 712 Chapel
	City: Baldwin City
	Date Signed: 
	Year: 
	Intend to Exceed RNR: Yes
	Will not exceed RNR: Off


